Macronutrient Considerations for the Sport of Bodybuilding

Charles P. Lambert,¹ Laura L. Frank² and William J. Evans¹

- 1 Nutrition, Metabolism, and Exercise Laboratory, Donald W. Reynolds Center on Aging, Department of Geriatrics, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences and Geriatric Research, Education and Clinical Center, Central Arkansas Veterans Healthcare System, Little Rock, Arkansas, USA
- 2 Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, University of Washington School of Medicine and Geriatric Research, Education and Clinical Center, Puget Sound Health Care System, Seattle, Washington, USA

Contents

Abstract	17
1. Macronutrient Composition for Optimal Muscle Mass Accretion	8
1.1 Protein	8
1.2 Carbohydrate	19
1.3 Fat	20
2. Efficacy of a Positive Energy Balance on Resistance Exercise-Induced Gains in Muscle Mass \dots 32	20
3. Timing of Amino Acid/Protein Intake Following Resistance Exercise	21
4. Optimal Post-Exercise Nutrition to Maximise the Rate of Muscle Glycogen Repletion	22
5. Optimal Macronutrient Composition for Fat Loss and Muscle Mass Maintenance	23
6. Recommendations for Pre- and Post-Training Session Nutrition	
7. Factors Influencing Fat-Free Mass Loss During Energy Restriction	25
8. Conclusion	25

Abstract

Participants in the sport of bodybuilding are judged by appearance rather than performance. In this respect, increased muscle size and definition are critical elements of success. The purpose of this review is to evaluate the literature and provide recommendations regarding macronutrient intake during both 'off-season' and 'pre-contest' phases. Body builders attempt to increase muscle mass during the off-season (no competitive events), which may be the great majority of the year. During the off-season, it is advantageous for the bodybuilder to be in positive energy balance so that extra energy is available for muscle anabolism. Additionally, during the off-season, adequate protein must be available to provide amino acids for protein synthesis. For 6-12 weeks prior to competition, body builders attempt to retain muscle mass and reduce body fat to very low levels. During the pre-contest phase, the bodybuilder should be in negative energy balance so that body fat can be oxidised. Furthermore, during the pre-contest phase, protein intake must be adequate to maintain muscle mass. There is evidence that a relatively high protein intake (~30% of energy intake) will reduce lean mass loss relative to a lower protein intake (~15% of energy intake) during energy restriction. The higher protein intake will also provide a relatively large thermic effect that may aid in reducing body fat. In both the off-season and pre-contest phases, adequate dietary carbohydrate should be ingested (55–60% of total energy intake) so that training intensity can be maintained. Excess dietary saturated fat can exacerbate coronary artery disease; however, low-fat diets result in a reduction in circulating testosterone. Thus, we suggest dietary fats comprise 15–20% of the body builders' off-season and pre-contest diets.

Consumption of protein/amino acids and carbohydrate immediately before and after training sessions may augment protein synthesis, muscle glycogen resynthesis and reduce protein degradation. The optimal rate of carbohydrate ingested immediately after a training session should be 1.2 g/kg/hour at 30-minute intervals for 4 hours and the carbohydrate should be of high glycaemic index. In summary, the composition of diets for body builders should be 55–60% carbohydrate, 25–30% protein and 15–20% of fat, for both the off-season and pre-contest phases. During the off-season the diet should be slightly hyperenergetic (~15% increase in energy intake) and during the pre-contest phase the diet should be hypoenergetic (~15% decrease in energy intake).

The major goals of competitive body builders are to increase muscle mass in the 'off-season' (no competition) and to reduce body fat to very low levels while retaining muscle mass during the 'pre-contest' period. The resistance training workouts during these two phases, in general, should be similar regarding the number of sets and repetitions, and the bodybuilder should attempt to maintain the amount of resistance he/she trains with during the pre-contest phase. The notion that one should perform a high number of sets and repetitions with little rest between sets to 'burn fat' during the pre-contest phase is without basis due to the low energy expenditure associated with resistance training,^[1] and may result in a loss of muscle mass due to the use of low exercise intensities associated with short rest periods between sets^[2] and the high number of repetitions. It is our belief that aerobic exercise and energy restriction should be used to reduce body fat rather than high-repetition, high-set, brief rest-period resistance training.

The major goal during the off-season is muscle mass accretion; adequate energy intake is required so that the bodybuilder can be in positive energy balance (i.e. be taking in slightly more energy than that required for weight maintenance). This will ensure that weight gain will occur and combined with high-intensity resistance training will promote muscle mass accretion.^[3] Also, adequate protein intake is required and the timing of the protein/amino acid intake appears to be important for the accretion of muscle mass (as discussed in section 3). Adequate carbohydrate stores are essential to fuel high-intensity resistance training. The timing, amount and type of carbohydrate have a bearing on muscle glycogen synthesis (as discussed in section 4). The purpose of this review is to evaluate the literature and provide recommendations for dietary macronutrient composition and total energy intake, and the timing, amount and composition of pre- and post-exercise nutrition for body builders during off-season and pre-contest phases.

1. Macronutrient Composition for Optimal Muscle Mass Accretion

1.1 Protein

Muscle is primarily protein and water. In order to maintain muscle mass, adequate dietary protein intake is required. The rates of muscle protein degradation and synthesis increase in response to highintensity resistance exercise, with a greater increase in the rate of synthesis.^[4] With regard to the time period of the increase in skeletal muscle protein synthesis, Chesley et al.^[5] reported that muscle protein synthesis was elevated by 50% at 4 hours and 109% at 24 hours as a result of 12 biceps resistance exercise sets of 6-12 repetitions at 80% of 1 repetition maximum, each of which were taken to the point of muscular failure. Because of this response, an increased amount of dietary protein is utilised for muscle growth compared with pre-exercise levels. This suggests that at any dietary protein intake, nitrogen balance (an indication of whole body protein use) is improved by strength training, thus decreasing the dietary protein requirement (as discussed by Rennie and Tipton^[6]). There are data suggesting that the levels of protein intake of $1.2^{[7]}$ $-1.7^{[8]}$ g/kg/day are required for body builders. This is substantially greater than the level of protein intake of 0.8 g/kg/day suggested for the general population; but as reviewed by Rennie and Tipton,^[6] these studies may be flawed methodologically. In these studies, it is unclear whether the individuals were in energy balance, whether they were at a steady level of training and/or whether the exercise intensity in the experiments matched their habitual training intensity.^[6]

Furthermore, Campbell et al.^[9] reported that in elderly individuals who initiated a resistance training programme for 12 weeks, 1.6g of protein/kg/day was no more effective in promoting a positive nitrogen balance than 0.8g of protein/kg/day. Thus, from the available data it appears that the protein requirements to promote anabolism for individuals engaged in resistance training are similar to individuals who do not resistance train due to the increased efficiency of amino acid utilisation. However, because of the large thermic effect of protein, we suggest that the protein intake should be 25-30% of total energy intake which under most, if not all circumstances, will be >0.8g of protein/kg/day. A 25% protein diet would allow for adequate carbohydrate intake to provide energy during resistance-training sessions and adequate fat to maintain circulating testosterone levels as discussed in section 1.2 and section 1.3.

Anabolic steroids and testosterone administration clearly increase muscle mass.^[10-13] The available

evidence suggests that the use of testosterone or anabolic steroids reduces the amount of protein required for nitrogen balance.^[14,15] This is likely due to an increase in the reutilisation of amino acids from protein breakdown for protein synthesis resulting from androgen administration.^[16] Thus, the amount of protein required for muscle mass accrual may be less for individuals on testosterone or anabolic steroids than for individuals who do not use them. We do not promote the use of anabolic steroids because of their potentially adverse effects and because they are illegal; however, it is clear many body builders choose to use them.

1.2 Carbohydrate

The optimal carbohydrate intake for body builders has not been clearly defined; however, the available research does provide adequate information for the formulation of guidelines. Glycogen is the major substrate for high-intensity exercise including moderate-repetition (8-12 repetitions) resistance exercise.^[17] MacDougall et al.^[17] reported that glycolysis provided the great majority of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) [~82% of ATP demands] during one set of biceps curls taken to the point of muscular failure. Twelve repetitions were performed and the exercise duration was 37 seconds. At this exercise intensity, it can be assumed that almost all of the fuel for muscle contraction was provided by muscle glycogen.^[18] Because of the great dependence of bodybuilding workouts on muscle glycogen, it follows that low muscle-glycogen levels would impair high-intensity exercise performance including resistance-exercise performance. This is supported by most^[19-23] but not all available literature.^[24]

MacDougall et al.^[25] had individuals perform 6–17 1-minute bouts on a cycle ergometer at 140% of maximum oxygen consumption. Muscle glycogen was reduced by 72%. These investigators found that the consumption of 3.15g of carbohydrate/kg of bodyweight restored muscle glycogen to a pre-exercise level 24 hours post-exercise. No added benefit was gained by the ingestion of 7.71g of carbohydrate/kg of bodyweight. However, the exercise performed in the study of MacDougall et al.^[25] differs

from resistance training as there was no eccentric component. Gibala et al.^[26] reported that eccentric muscle contractions induce muscle damage even in highly trained body builders. It has been previously demonstrated that muscle damage resulting from eccentric exercise results in greatly reduced capacity for glycogen storage^[27] due to decreased insulinstimulated glucose transport into muscle cells.^[28-30] Costill et al.^[31] reported that muscle damage may increase the dietary carbohydrate requirement for optimal muscle glycogen resynthesis. Based on these data, we suggest that body builders ingest 5–6g of carbohydrate/kg/day for optimal muscle-glycogen levels or that carbohydrate should comprise 55–60% of daily energy intake.

1.3 Fat

Clearly much less is known about the role of dietary fat on influencing exercise capacity, muscle mass accretion and losses of body fat when compared with what is known about protein and carbohydrate. A high-fat diet appears to impair highintensity exercise capacity relative to a high-carbohydrate diet.^[32-34] Little is known about the effects of fat content of the diet on muscle mass accretion. There is evidence, however, that both lowering the fat content of the diet and replacing saturated fat with polyunsaturated fat can reduce circulating testosterone levels.^[35] Hamalainen et al.^[35,36] reported that reducing dietary fat from 40% of energy intake to <25% of energy intake and drastically increasing the polyunsaturated to saturated fat ratio intake in healthy male volunteers resulted in a 15% decline in the total testosterone level. Dorgan et al.^[37] reported that a low fat (18% of energy intake) and high polyunsaturated fat intake resulted in a 13% lower total testosterone level than when a diet with a high fat (41% of energy intake) and low polyunsaturated to saturated fat intake was ingested.

Berrino et al.^[38] reported that when a diet low in animal fat and refined carbohydrates and high in low-glycaemic-index foods, with high monounsaturated fats, high n-3 polyunsaturated fats and high phytoestrogens replaced a typical high-fat western diet there was a 20% decline in the total testosterone level in postmenopausal women. Thus, it appears that reducing total fat intake and drastically increasing the polyunsaturated to saturated fat ratio results in a decrease in total testosterone. Whether this decrease in total testosterone influences muscle mass has yet to be established. This potential negative effect of reducing dietary saturated fat and increasing polyunsaturated fatty acids on the testosterone level must be balanced with the potential beneficial effects of these changes on cardiovascular risk factors. Clearly more research on these relationships needs to be conducted. Because high dietary fat greatly increases energy intake and has a negative impact on the cardiovascular system and because it is possible that drastically reduced fat can result in a reduction in circulating testosterone levels we suggest that the off-season bodybuilding diet has a moderate level of fat; ~15–20% of total energy intake with some saturated fat. This recommendation must be considered in light of the positive benefits of a relatively highcarbohydrate diet (55-60% of total energy intake) on high-intensity exercise performance and the benefits of additional protein (25% of energy intake) for muscle mass accretion and for its very high thermic effect.

2. Efficacy of a Positive Energy Balance on Resistance Exercise-Induced Gains in Muscle Mass

Protein synthesis is an ATP-dependent process. Because of this, muscle protein synthesis might be augmented during periods of positive energy balance, and diminished during negative energy balance. A significant gain in fat-free mass with overfeeding is also supported in the literature.^[39] Thus, in untrained individuals, providing extra energy intake without any other anabolic stimuli results in accumulation of fat-free mass in addition to fat mass. There are data available suggesting that by increasing energy intake above that needed for weight maintenance during resistance training, muscle mass gains may be augmented.^[3] Meredith et al.^[3] provided elderly men (aged 61–72 years) with 560 extra kcals and ~24 extra grams of protein and had these individuals resistance train. These individuals were then compared with individuals who resistance trained on their normal diet. The investigators reported that those individuals receiving the energy/protein supplement had a significantly greater increase in thigh muscle mass than individuals who resistance trained but did not ingest the supplement. In addition, the change in energy intake was correlated with the change in the mid-thigh muscle area (r = 0.69; p = 0.019). However, it is unclear from the experimental design whether the greater increase in the mid-thigh muscle area in those individuals receiving the supplement and resistance training was due to increase in energy intake and/or protein intake. The intake of extra energy and extra protein in combination is common practice for body builders during the off-season. Thus, the data from Meredith et al.^[3] would suggest that the intake of a protein/energy supplement may be efficacious.

3. Timing of Amino Acid/Protein Intake Following Resistance Exercise

Net positive protein balance means the muscle is in an anabolic state (i.e. protein synthesis is greater than protein breakdown) while net negative protein balance is an indication that the muscle is in a catabolic state (i.e. protein synthesis is less than protein breakdown). While an individual is fasting, net protein balance for muscle is negative.^[40] An acute resistance exercise session increases protein synthesis to a greater degree than it increases protein breakdown; however, net protein balance remains negative.^[40] An infusion of amino acids while individuals were in the fasted, nonexercised condition, increased muscle protein synthesis which resulted in a slightly positive net protein balance.^[41] Following a single bout of resistance exercise, an amino acid infusion increased net protein balance to a significantly more positive value than amino acid infusion alone.^[41] Similar increases were observed with the ingestion of essential amino acids after exercise.[42] The amount of amino acids required for this change to take place is small (6g of essential amino acids) and an added benefit was achieved with the ingestion of 35g of sucrose.^[43] Muscle net protein balance is similar when the amino acid solution is ingested at 1 or 3 hours after the resistance exercise session.^[44] More recent research suggested that when the amino acid solution was ingested immediately before a resistance exercise session, net protein balance increased to a significantly greater extent than ingesting the solution after the resistance exercise, possibly due to greater muscle blood flow and amino acid delivery.^[45]

With regard to amino acid supplementation combined with a resistance training programme versus the effects of amino acids on an acute resistance exercise bout, Esmarck et al.^[46] reported that the supplementation of 10g of protein, 7g of carbohydrate and 3g of fat immediately after each resistance training bout increased muscle mass; however, when this same supplement was ingested 2 hours after each resistance exercise bout in a separate group of individuals, no increase in muscle mass was observed. The men in that study were on average 74 years of age and they trained for 12 weeks. Godard et al.^[47] reported, however, that the ingestion of 12g of essential amino acids combined with 72g of sucrose immediately after each resistance exercise bout resulted in no greater muscle hypertrophy or increase in strength than the resistance training without supplementation. The training period for that study was 12 weeks and the average age of the individuals was 71.5 years. Thus, although acute amino acid ingestion increases protein synthesis it is uncertain whether this results in muscle mass gains over the long term. However, it is our recommendation that individuals who engage in resistance exercise should ingest amino acids/protein prior to or immediately after the end of their training sessions, as this may enhance long-term muscle hypertrophy. It is unclear at present what the optimal form of protein is for maximal enhancement of net protein balance.

Miller et al.^[43] administered 6g of amino acids, 35g of carbohydrate or the combination of the two at 1 and 2 hours after resistance exercise to examine the independent and combined effects of carbohydrates, amino acids and exercise with regard to net phenylalanine uptake by muscle (a measure of anabolism). They found that carbohydrate and amino acids and the combination of the two all significantly increased net phenylalanine uptake and that the combined effects of amino acids and carbohydrate were additive: 53, 71, 114 mg/leg/3h for carbohydrate, amino acids, and the mixture of the two, respectively. Furthermore, these investigators reported that there was a reduction in the rate of urea production and the rate of phenylalanine appearance from muscle into blood in the carbohydrate group relative to the resting value, suggesting reduced muscle proteolysis.

Roy et al.^[48] reported that the ingestion of 1 g/kg of glucose immediately and 1 hour after a resistance exercise bout resulted in a significant 8% reduction in urinary 3-methylhistidine excretion in the carbohydrate versus placebo group, and a significant 30% reduction in urea nitrogen excretion when comparing carbohydrate to placebo groups was also observed. In a subsequent study,^[49] these investigators compared administering 1 g/kg of glucose to providing the same amount of energy with a different macronutrient composition: carbohydrate (66%), protein (23%) and fat (~12%). These investigators found that nonoxidative leucine disposal (an indicator of whole body protein synthesis) was ~41% and ~33% greater for carbohydrate/protein/fat and carbohydrate conditions compared with the placebo condition. However, whole body protein synthesis may or may not be representative of the anabolic/ catabolic processes occurring directly in skeletal muscle. Recently, Borsheim et al.^[50] reported that the ingestion of 100g of carbohydrate after a resistance training session resulted in an improvement in phenylalanine net balance via a reduction in proteolysis; however, phenylalanine net balance did not reach positive values. The ingestion of essential amino acids after resistance training results in values substantially above zero for net phenylalanine balance.^[42] These findings suggest a relatively minor effect of carbohydrate ingestion on muscle protein metabolism post-exercise. In summary, providing amino acids and carbohydrate immediately prior to resistance exercise and/or immediately after the exercise appear important for inducing a positive net protein balance and muscle anabolism. This increase in muscle protein balance may result from increased sensitivity of muscle cells to insulin as a result of contraction,^[51] increased blood flow and therefore amino acid delivery to muscle cells that is both caused by exercise^[45] and insulin^[52] or a combination of both factors. However, whether or not these practices lead to greater muscle hypertrophy in the long term has yet to be established.

4. Optimal Post-Exercise Nutrition to Maximise the Rate of Muscle Glycogen Repletion

Ivy et al.^[53] reported that the rate of muscle glycogen resynthesis over 4 hours was 76% greater when carbohydrate was provided immediately after exercise compared with 2 hours after exercise. This accelerated rate of glycogen resynthesis is likely due to the insulin-like effect of exercise on skeletal muscle glucose uptake.^[54] Ivy et al.^[55] also investigated the effect of the amount of carbohydrate ingested on the rate of glycogen resynthesis. They observed that the ingestion of 1.5g of carbohydrate/ kg of bodyweight immediately after and 2 hours after exercise (rate of 0.8 g/kg/hour) resulted in a similar muscle glycogen resynthesis rate 4 hours after ingestion, as the ingestion of 3.0g of carbohydrate/kg of bodyweight (rate of 1.5 g/kg/hour) at these same time points. However, more recent data where carbohydrate solutions were ingested every 30 minutes suggest that the ingestion of 1.2g carbohydrate/kg/hour is significantly better at increasing the rate of glycogen synthesis than ingestion at a rate of 0.8 g/kg/hour.

With regard to the impact of the type of carbohydrate on the rate of muscle glycogen resynthesis, Burke et al.^[56] reported that the ingestion of highglycaemic-index carbohydrates resulted in a significant 48% greater rate of muscle glycogen resynthesis than the ingestion of low-glycaemicindex carbohydrates 24 hours after ingestion. Thus, it appears that high-glycaemic-index carbohydrates should be ingested in the first few hours after exercise. Recently, Ivy et al.^[57] investigated the effects

of the addition of protein to carbohydrate on the rate of muscle glycogen resynthesis. These investigators reported that the addition of 28g of protein to 80g of carbohydrate and 6g of fat, given 10 minutes postexercise and 2 hours post-exercise, resulted in a 27% greater rate of muscle glycogen accumulation over 4 hours than the ingestion of 80g of carbohydrate and 6g of fat without protein. However, more recently, van Loon et al.^[58] reported that additional carbohydrate added to a carbohydrate solution was just as effective as additional protein or amino acids added to a carbohydrate solution with respect to the rate of muscle glycogen synthesis. Based on these studies it is recommended that 1.2g of carbohydrate/kg/hour be ingested at 30-minute intervals for 4 hours after exercise. The carbohydrate ingested should have a high-glycaemic index^[56] (i.e. result in a rapid increase in blood glucose levels). These recommendations will help to maximise the rate of muscle glycogen resynthesis after exercise. The question that has not been answered by most of these studies is: do the dietary practices studied over a very short period of time (~4 hours in most studies^[53,55,57,58]) have an impact on muscle glycogen levels 24-48 hours after exercise of a given muscle group?

5. Optimal Macronutrient Composition for Fat Loss and Muscle Mass Maintenance

Typically, the pre-contest phase lasts between 6-12 weeks. The body composition goals of body builders during this phase are 2-fold: to maximise fat loss and minimise muscle mass loss. Fat loss requires that the bodybuilder go into negative energy balance usually by a combination of energy restriction and increased energy expenditure via aerobic exercise. However, if negative energy balance is too severe, loss of muscle mass is likely.^[39] Maintenance of muscle mass requires that the bodybuilder is able to maintain his/her training intensity and volume. The high intensity, anaerobic nature of resistance training requires adequate muscle glycogen stores and thus dietary carbohydrate. Because adequate dietary carbohydrate is required for intense training it is unlikely that very low

carbohydrate diets will achieve the goal of muscle mass maintenance. Diets such as the Atkins' diet (*ad libitum* diet ~68% fat, ~5% carbohydrate, ~27% protein) are very likely not conducive to muscle mass maintenance in body builders who train intensely. This is despite the fact that the Atkins' diet may result in greater fat loss than the conventional low-fat, high-carbohydrate diet.^[59-61] An often overlooked reason to have a high-protein content of a bodybuilding diet is that it takes much more energy to metabolise protein than it does carbohydrate or fat and resting energy expenditure is proportional to the protein intake.

Nair et al.^[62] reported that energy expenditure 2.5 hours after ingestion of a 300 kcal (1.25MJ) meal of protein was 15% of energy intake while that of fat was 7%, and carbohydrate was 6%. Similarly, Johnston et al.[63] reported that meal-induced thermogenesis was approximately 2-fold higher for a lowcarbohydrate, high-protein, low-fat meal (30% complex carbohydrate, 10% simple sugar, 30% protein, 30% fat) than a high-carbohydrate, moderate-protein, low-fat meal (50% complex carbohydrate, 10% simple sugar, 15% protein, 25% fat) 2.5 hours after meal ingestion. Recently, Layman et al.^[64] reported that a hypoenergetic high-protein diet (1700 kcal/ day; 41% carbohydrate, 30% protein, 29% fat with a carbohydrate to protein ratio of 1.4) resulted in a significantly greater fat-to-lean mass loss (6.3 g/g) than a hypoenergetic, high-carbohydrate diet (1700 kcal/day; 58% carbohydrate, 16% protein, 26% fat with a carbohydrate to protein ratio of 3.5) in which the loss of fat-to-lean mass loss was 3.8 g/g. Similarly, Farnsworth et al.^[65] reported that a hypoenergetic high protein diet (~1400 kcal; 44% carbohydrate, 27% protein, 29% fat) resulted in less lean mass loss (0.1kg) relative to a standard protein diet (1.5kg) [~1400kcal; 57% carbohydrate, 16% protein, 27% fat).

Skov et al.^[66] examined the effects of high (25%) and low (12%) protein intake when individuals ingested an *ad libitum*, reduced-fat diet on weight loss in obese individuals. The difference in energy intake was made up by carbohydrate. They reported that in 6 months, the individuals in the low-protein group lost 5.1kg while those in the high-protein group lost 8.9kg (p < 0.001). In addition, 35% of the individuals in the high-protein group lost >10kg while only 9% lost this amount in the low-protein group. In a companion paper, Parker et al.^[67] reported that in women, the high-protein diet resulted in significantly greater total and abdominal fat loss than the lowprotein diet; however, no effect was observed in men. It appears well established that protein is much more thermogenic than carbohydrate and fat,^[62,63] and the majority of data suggest that having a higher percentage of the diet as protein (~25-30%) may result in greater fat loss relative to fat-free mass loss than lower protein diets (~15%).[64,65] However, not all studies have reported that high-protein diets are more efficacious than lower protein diets. In individuals with type-2 diabetes mellitus, Luscombe et al.,^[68] reported that a high-protein diet (28% protein; 42% carbohydrate) was no more efficacious for weight loss than a low-protein diet (16% protein; 55% carbohydrate) during 8 weeks of energy restriction (1600 kcal/day).

Changing the macronutrient composition of an individual's diet can result in weight loss despite the ingestion of the same amount of energy. Assuming that individuals are in energy balance on a 3000 kcal/day diet and that protein has a thermic effect that is 20% of the energy ingested,^[69] while fat has a thermic effect of only 2% of energy ingested,^[69] increasing the dietary protein percentage from 15% to 30% and reducing the fat percentage from 40% of energy intake to 25% of energy intake would result in the extra expenditure of 81 kcal/day and 29 565 kcal/year. Assuming, 3500 kcal is 0.455kg of fat, this would result in the loss of 3.8kg of fat in a year, which is not a trivial amount. This occurs as a result of changing the macronutrient composition without reducing dietary energy intake. Thus, adding protein at the expense of fat will add significantly to energy expenditure over time.

Walberg et al.^[70] performed an investigation in which they compared two hypoenergetic diets (18 kcal/kg/day) one of which was moderate in protein (0.8 g/kg/day) and high in carbohydrate (70% carbo-

drate and high-carbohydrate/moderate-protein groups, respectively) over 7 days. It is well established that protein requirements increase with low energy intakes as a result of amino acid oxidation for energy.^[71] Thus, the large reduction in energy intake likely increased protein requirements. Furthermore, the carbohydrate intake on the moderate carbohydrate diet was only 2.25 g/ kg. Thus, the finding of negative nitrogen balance on the moderate-protein/high-carbohydrate diet and greater fatigability on the high-protein/moderatecarbohydrate diet was confounded by the low total energy intake, which did not supply adequate dietary protein to maintain nitrogen balance nor ade-

hydrate) [13% fat] with another which was high in protein (1.6 g/kg/day) and moderate in carbohydrate (50% carbohydrate) approximately 50% carbohydrate (15% fat) for 7 days and examined the effects on nitrogen balance and muscular endurance in weight-trained individuals. They reported that the individuals on the moderate-protein/high-carbohydrate diet went into negative nitrogen balance (-3.19 g/day) while those in the high-protein/moderatecarbohydrate group were in positive nitrogen balance (4.13 g/day). However, there was a significant decline (22.4%) in quadriceps muscle endurance for the high-protein/moderate-carbohydrate group over the 7-day study. On the surface it would appear that the high-protein diet was beneficial in enhancing nitrogen retention but was detrimental because of low-glycogen stores due to the macronutrient composition. However, the degree of energy restriction was very large (-48.6%) as evidenced by the large reduction in bodyweight in the experimental groups (3.6 and 4.0kg for high-protein/moderate-carbohydrate high-carbohydrate/moderate-protein and

quate carbohydrate to maintain adequate glycogen

levels. This exemplifies the importance of a more

moderate energy restriction to maintain adequate

carbohydrate and protein intake. It is likely that had

a more moderate energy restriction been used in the

study by Walberg et al.,^[72] a 50% carbohydrate,

30% protein diet would have provided adequate

adequate protein to maintain nitrogen balance.

1 g/kg

proteolysis					
	Pre-exercise (15 min prior)	Immediately post-exercise	2h post-exercise		
Amino acids/protein	>6g of essential amino acids	>6g of essential amino acids	Unknown		

1.2 g/kg high-glycaemic index

Table I. Pre- and post-exercise macronutrient intake for optimal protein synthesis, muscle glycogen synthesis and inhibition of muscle proteolysis

6. Recommendations for Pre- and Post-Training Session Nutrition

Carbohydrate

Because pre-exercise carbohydrate feedings appear to augment performance during resistance exercise sessions,^[21] and carbohydrate ingestion increases protein synthesis,^[43] and decreases measures of proteolysis.^[43,48] and because muscle glycogen levels are augmented by carbohydrate ingestion we recommend ingesting 1 g/kg of high-glycaemicindex carbohydrate 15 minutes prior to a resistance exercise session. We also suggest that at least 6g of amino acids/protein be ingested prior to a resistance exercise session as this has been shown to augment muscle protein synthesis relative to ingesting it after resistance exercise.^[45] Immediately post-exercise we suggest ingesting at least 6g of amino acids/ protein and 1.2g of high-glycaemic-index carbohydrate/kg/hour for 4 hours in order to stimulate protein synthesis,^[43,44,49] reduce proteolysis^[43,48] and maximally stimulate muscle glycogen resynthesis.^[58] These suggestions are summarised in table I.

7. Factors Influencing Fat-Free Mass Loss During Energy Restriction

To our knowledge, there are no data examining factors that dictate the degree of fat-free mass loss during energy restriction in body builders. There are data, however, from normal weight and obese individuals undergoing energy restriction.^[39] There appears to be two clear factors that act to determine the amount of fat-free mass lost during energy restriction: (i) the initial amount of body fat and; (ii) the degree of energy restriction. Individuals with more body fat lose less fat-free mass than their lean counterparts when undergoing the same degree of energy restriction. Furthermore, the greater the degree of energy restriction, the greater the loss of fat-free mass. These two findings may have important implications for the competitive bodybuilder. First, at the

beginning of the pre-contest diet when body fat levels are relatively higher than those on the day of the contest, greater energy restriction can be undertaken. As the contest date arrives and body fat levels are reduced to lower levels, less of a reduction in energy intake should be undertaken in an effort to preserve fat-free mass. The implications of the degree of energy restriction affecting fat-free mass loss, suggests that extreme energy restriction during the pre-contest phase will cause greater fat-free mass loss and therefore the energy restriction should not be drastic. Unfortunately, it is difficult to put an exact number on the level of energy restriction that is too great due to inter-individual variability.

1.2 g/kg high-glycaemic-index

8. Conclusion

Optimal off-season resistance training, in which the major goal is to add muscle mass, requires a positive energy balance, a moderate-to-high carbohydrate intake to fuel resistance exercise sessions, and a protein intake of 25-30% of total energy intake. Furthermore, dietary fat should be adequate (~15-20% of total energy intake with some saturated fat) in an attempt to prevent a decline in circulating testosterone levels. Optimal pre-contest preparation goals are the retention of muscle mass and a reduction of body fat, the latter of which requires a negative energy balance. A moderate level of carbohydrate should be ingested to maintain workout intensity and an adequate protein intake will help prevent muscle mass loss and maintain a relatively high thermic effect. The timing, amount and type of macronutrient ingestion have important effects on protein synthesis and degradation as well as muscle glycogen resynthesis.

Acknowledgements

No sources of funding were used to assist in the preparation of this review. The authors have no conflicts of interest that are directly relevant to the content of this review.

References

- Collins MA, Cureton KJ, Hill DW, et al. Relationship of heart rate to oxygen uptake during weight lifting exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1991; 23 (5): 636-40
- Brooks G, Fahey T, White T. Exercise physiology human bioenergetics and applications. 2nd ed. Mountain View (CA): Mayfield Publishing Company, 1995
- Meredith CN, Frontera WR, O'Reilly KP, et al. Body composition in elderly men: effect of dietary modification during strength training. J Am Geriatr Soc 1992; 40 (2): 155-62
- Phillips SM, Tipton KD, Ferrando AA, et al. Resistance training reduces the acute exercise-induced increase in muscle protein turnover. Am J Physiol 1999; 276 (1 Pt 1): E118-24
- Chesley A, MacDougall JD, Tarnopolsky MA, et al. Changes in human muscle protein synthesis after resistance exercise. J Appl Physiol 1992; 73 (4): 1383-8
- Rennie MJ, Tipton KD. Protein and amino acid metabolism during and after exercise and the effects of nutrition. Annu Rev Nutr 2000; 20: 457-83
- Tarnopolsky MA, MacDougall JD, Atkinson SA. Influence of protein intake and training status on nitrogen balance and lean body mass. J Appl Physiol 1988; 64 (1): 187-93
- Lemon PW, Tarnopolsky MA, MacDougall JD, et al. Protein requirements and muscle mass/strength changes during intensive training in novice body builders. J Appl Physiol 1992; 73 (2): 767-75
- Campbell WW, Crim MC, Young VR, et al. Effects of resistance training and dietary protein intake on protein metabolism in older adults. Am J Physiol 1995; 268 (6 Pt 1): E1143-53
- Johansen KL, Mulligan K, Schambelan M. Anabolic effects of nandrolone decanoate in patients receiving dialysis: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 1999; 281 (14): 1275-81
- Rabkin JG, Wagner GJ, Rabkin R. A double-blind, placebocontrolled trial of testosterone therapy for HIV-positive men with hypogonadal symptoms. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2000; 57 (2): 141-7
- Bhasin S, Woodhouse L, Casaburi R, et al. Testosterone doseresponse relationships in healthy young men. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2001; 281 (6): E1172-81
- Griggs RC, Kingston W, Jozefowicz RF, et al. Effect of testosterone on muscle mass and muscle protein synthesis. J Appl Physiol 1989; 66 (1): 498-503
- Zachwieja JJ, Smith SR, Lovejoy JC, et al. Testosterone administration preserves protein balance but not muscle strength during 28 days of bed rest. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1999; 84 (1): 207-12
- Strawford A, Barbieri T, Van Loan M, et al. Resistance exercise and supraphysiologic androgen therapy in eugonadal men with HIV-related weight loss: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 1999; 281 (14): 1282-90
- Ferrando AA, Tipton KD, Doyle D, et al. Testosterone injection stimulates net protein synthesis but not tissue amino acid transport. Am J Physiol 1998; 275 (5 Pt 1): E864-71
- MacDougall JD, Ray S, Sale DG, et al. Muscle substrate utilization and lactate production. Can J Appl Physiol 1999; 24 (3): 209-15
- Katz A, Broberg S, Sahlin K, et al. Leg glucose uptake during maximal dynamic exercise in humans. Am J Physiol 1986; 251 (1 Pt 1): E65-70
- Balsom PD, Gaitanos GC, Soderlund K, et al. High-intensity exercise and muscle glycogen availability in humans. Acta Physiol Scand 1999; 165: 337-45

- Davis JM, Jackson DA, Broadwell MS, et al. Carbohydrate drinks delay fatigue during intermittent, high-intensity cycling in active men and women. Int J Sport Nutr 1997; 7: 261-73
- Lambert CP, Flynn MG, Boone JB, et al. Effects of carbohydrate feeding on multiple bout resistance exercise. J Appl Sport Sci Res 1991; 5 (4): 192-7
- Leveritt M, Abernethy PJ. Effects of carbohydrate restriction on strength performance. J Strength Cond Res 1999; 13 (1): 52-7
- Haff GG, Koch AJ, Potteiger JA, et al. Carbohydrate supplementation attenuates muscle glycogen loss during acute bouts of resistance exercise. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab 2000; 10: 326-39
- Mitchell JB, Dilauro PC, Pizza FX, et al. The effect of preexercise carbohydrate status on resistance exercise performance. Int J Sport Nutr 1997; 1997 (7): 185-96
- MacDougall JD, Ward GR, Sale DG, et al. Muscle glycogen repletion after high-intensity intermittent exercise. J Appl Physiol 1977; 42: 129-32
- Gibala MJ, Interisano SA, Tarnopolsky MA, et al. Myofibrillar disruption following acute concentric and eccentric resistance exercise in strength-trained men. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 2000; 78 (8): 656-61
- O'Reilly KP, Warhol MJ, Fielding RA, et al. Eccentric exercise-induced muscle damage impairs muscle glycogen repletion. J Appl Physiol 1987; 63 (1): 252-6
- Asp S, Richter EA. Decreased insulin action on muscle glucose transport after eccentric contractions in rats. J Appl Physiol 1996; 81 (5): 1924-8
- Asp S, Daugaard JR, Kristiansen S, et al. Eccentric exercise decreases maximal insulin action in humans: muscle and systemic effects. J Physiol 1996; 494 (Pt 3): 891-8
- Asp S, Watkinson A, Oakes ND, et al. Prior eccentric contractions impair maximal insulin action on muscle glucose uptake in the conscious rat. J Appl Physiol 1997; 82 (4): 1327-32
- Costill DL, Pascoe DD, Fink WJ, et al. Impaired muscle glycogen resynthesis after eccentric exercise. J Appl Physiol 1990; 69 (1): 46-50
- Greenhaff PL, Gleeson M, Maughan RJ. The effects of dietary manipulation on blood acid-base status and the performance of high intensity exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1987; 56 (3): 331-7
- Greenhaff PL, Gleeson M, Whiting PH, et al. Dietary composition and acid-base status: limiting factors in the performance of maximal exercise in man? Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1987; 56 (4): 444-50
- Maughan RJ, Poole DC. The effects of a glycogen-loading regimen on the capacity to perform anaerobic exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1981; 46 (3): 211-9
- Hamalainen EK, Adlercreutz H, Puska P, et al. Decrease of serum total and free testosterone during a low-fat high-fibre diet. J Steroid Biochem 1983; 18 (3): 369-70
- Hamalainen E, Adlercreutz H, Puska P, et al. Diet and serum sex hormones in healthy men. J Steroid Biochem 1984; 20 (1): 459-64
- Dorgan JF, Judd JT, Longcope C, et al. Effects of dietary fat and fiber on plasma and urine androgens and estrogens in men: a controlled feeding study. Am J Clin Nutr 1996; 64 (6): 850-5
- Berrino F, Bellati C, Secreto G, et al. Reducing bioavailable sex hormones through a comprehensive change in diet: the diet and androgens (DIANA) randomized trial. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2001; 10 (1): 25-33

- Forbes GB. Body fat content influences the body composition response to nutrition and exercise. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2000; 904: 359-65
- Biolo G, Maggi SP, Williams BD, et al. Increased rates of muscle protein turnover and amino acid transport after resistance exercise in humans. Am J Physiol 1995; 268 (3 Pt 1): E514-20
- Biolo G, Tipton KD, Klein S, et al. An abundant supply of amino acids enhances the metabolic effect of exercise on muscle protein. Am J Physiol 1997; 273 (1 Pt 1): E122-9
- Tipton KD, Ferrando AA, Phillips SM, et al. Postexercise net protein synthesis in human muscle from orally administered amino acids. Am J Physiol 1999; 276 (4 Pt 1): E628-34
- Miller SL, Tipton KD, Chinkes DL, et al. Independent and combined effects of amino acids and glucose after resistance exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2003; 35 (3): 449-55
- Rasmussen BB, Tipton KD, Miller SL, et al. An oral essential amino acid-carbohydrate supplement enhances muscle protein anabolism after resistance exercise. J Appl Physiol 2000; 88 (2): 386-92
- Tipton KD, Rasmussen BB, Miller SL, et al. Timing of amino acid-carbohydrate ingestion alters anabolic response of muscle to resistance exercise. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2001; 281 (2): E197-206
- 46. Esmarck B, Andersen JL, Olsen S, et al. Timing of postexercise protein intake is important for muscle hypertrophy with resistance training in elderly humans. J Physiol 2001; 535 (Pt 1): 301-11
- Godard MP, Williamson DL, Trappe SW. Oral amino-acid provision does not affect muscle strength or size gains in older men. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2002; 34 (7): 1126-31
- Roy BD, Tarnopolsky MA, MacDougall JD, et al. Effect of glucose supplement timing on protein metabolism after resistance training. J Appl Physiol 1997; 82 (6): 1882-8
- Roy BD, Fowles JR, Hill R, et al. Macronutrient intake and whole body protein metabolism following resistance exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2000; 32 (8): 1412-8
- Borsheim E, Cree MG, Tipton KD, et al. Effect of carbohydrate intake on net muscle protein synthesis during recovery from resistance exercise. J Appl Physiol 2004; 96: 674-8
- Holloszy JO. A forty-year memoir of research on the regulation of glucose transport into muscle. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2003; 284 (3): E453-67
- Baron AD, Steinberg H, Brechtel G, et al. Skeletal muscle blood flow independently modulates insulin-mediated glucose uptake. Am J Physiol 1994; 266 (2 Pt 1): E248-53
- Ivy JL, Katz AL, Cutler CL, et al. Muscle glycogen synthesis after exercise: effect of time of carbohydrate ingestion. J Appl Physiol 1988; 64 (4): 1480-5
- Ploug T, Galbo H, Vinten J, et al. Kinetics of glucose transport in rat muscle: effects of insulin and contractions. Am J Physiol 1987; 253 (1 Pt 1): E12-20
- Ivy JL, Lee MC, Brozinick Jr JT, et al. Muscle glycogen storage after different amounts of carbohydrate ingestion. J Appl Physiol 1988; 65 (5): 2018-23
- Burke LM, Collier GR, Hargreaves M. Muscle glycogen storage after prolonged exercise: effect of the glycemic index of carbohydrate feedings. J Appl Physiol 1993; 75 (2): 1019-23
- Ivy JL, Goforth Jr HW, Damon BM, et al. Early postexercise muscle glycogen recovery is enhanced with a carbohydrateprotein supplement. J Appl Physiol 2002; 93 (4): 1337-44

- van Loon LJ, Saris WH, Kruijshoop M, et al. Maximizing postexercise muscle glycogen synthesis: carbohydrate supplementation and the application of amino acid or protein hydrolysate mixtures. Am J Clin Nutr 2000; 72 (1): 106-11
- Foster GD, Wyatt HR, Hill JO, et al. A randomized trial of a low-carbohydrate diet for obesity. N Engl J Med 2003; 348: 2082-90
- 60. Brehm BJ, Seeley RJ, Daniels SR, et al. A randomized trial comparing a very low carbohydrate diet and a calorie-restricted low fat diet on body weight and cardiovascular risk factors in healthy women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003; 88: 1617-23
- Samaha FF, Iqbal N, Seshadri P, et al. A low-carbohydrate as compared with a low-fat diet in severe obesity. N Engl J Med 2003; 348: 2074-81
- Nair KS, Halliday D, Garrow JS. Thermic response to isoenergetic protein, carbohydrate or fat meals in lean and obese subjects. Clin Sci (Lond) 1983; 65 (3): 307-12
- 63. Johnston CS, Day CS, Swan PD. Postprandial thermogenesis is increased 100% on a high-protein, low-fat diet versus a highcarbohydrate, low-fat diet in healthy, young women. J Am Coll Nutr 2002; 21 (1): 55-61
- 64. Layman DK, Boileau RA, Erickson DJ, et al. A reduced ratio of dietary carbohydrate to protein improves body composition and blood lipid profiles during weight loss in adult women. J Nutr 2003; 133 (2): 411-7
- 65. Farnsworth E, Luscombe ND, Noakes M, et al. Effect of a highprotein, energy-restricted diet on body composition, glycemic control, and lipid concentrations in overweight and obese hyperinsulinemic men and women. Am J Clin Nutr 2003; 78 (1): 31-9
- 66. Skov AR, Toubro S, Ronn B, et al. Randomized trial on protein vs carbohydrate in ad libitum fat reduced diet for the treatment of obesity. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 1999; 23 (5): 528-36
- 67. Parker B, Noakes M, Luscombe N, et al. Effect of a high-protein, high-monounsaturated fat weight loss diet on glycemic control and lipid levels in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2002; 25 (3): 425-30
- Luscombe ND, Clifton PM, Noakes M, et al. Effects of energyrestricted diets containing increased protein on weight loss, resting energy expenditure, and the thermic effect of feeding in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2002; 25 (4): 652-7
- Dyck DJ. Dietary fat intake, supplements, and weight loss. Can J Appl Physiol 2000; 25 (6): 495-523
- Walberg JL, Leidy MK, Sturgill DJ, et al. Macronutrient content of a hypoenergy diet affects nitrogen retention and muscle function in weight lifters. Int J Sports Med 1988; 9 (4): 261-6
- Butterfield GE. Whole-body protein utilization in humans. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1987; 19 (5 Suppl.): S157-65
- Walberg JL, Ruiz VK, Tarlton SL, et al. Exercise capacity and nitrogen loss during a high or low carbohydrate diet. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1988; 20 (1): 34-43

Correspondence and offprints: Dr *Charles P. Lambert*, Nutrition, Metabolism, and Exercise Laboratory, Donald W. Reynolds Department of Geriatrics,, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, Little Rock, AR 72205, USA. E-mail: LambertCharlesP@uams.edu